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Interview # 1

Interview with Mr. C halmers Roberts by John Luter

Washington, D.C, August 29, 1967

Q: Mr. Roberts, first would you osutline your personal bsckground,
and tell us the circumstances unier which you were a corresoonéént

in Washington during the Eisenhowsr Administratinn?

Mr. Roberts: Well, I've been in Washington, »on and off, since
1G33. But I started ocovering divlomatic news, foreign pnlicy,
almost immediatel y after Zisenhower's inauguratisn in 1953,

So except for the first couple of months, I 1lived continuously
through the eight years of the Eisenhower Administratinn with
the administretion's foreign policy, and that meant, for most of

that time, of course, with Secretary Dulles.

Q: Would you tell us something of your personal relstions with
Secretary Dulles, and the association that you had with President

“1isenhowsr?

Mr. Roberts: well, those are two Aifferent things. Eisenhwar
was not avproachable to the press, in the sense that other
Pre si dents have been, to newspapermen. At least he certainly
wasn't to me. I never had a personal congersati-n with Eisenhowsr,

as I have had with other Pres dents. A few journalists 414, but
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their number and occasions were very few,

Dulles was a very different proposition, and partly, I think,
compensated for Eilsenhower's way of doing business. D ulles, as
averyone knows, was 8o dominant, in terms of ths administration's
foreign policy, that Ike lsft a great deal to Dulles--certainly
the relationship to the press generally,"press'being used in the
broadest sense of 211 cecommunications media. Uulles,t;; two
levels of operation, a public one and a private one. The oublic
one was a record of many press confersnces, far more than has
been the came since, and more than any since Cordell Hull's day,
when Hull used to have a daily press eonference befnore the war,
in which very little was actually said of substance. Dulles
used the press conference for very important purposses, and he
considered it very important. As he said, and others have said
about him, he agonized over them quits a good deal, He
always considersd what came out in press conferences, what he
sald there, to be in effect state papers.

In fact, there was a ruckus one time over nne of his
ress confsrences in which I was involved, He made a mis-cue,
something he sald. TI'd have to look it up to find nut exactly
what 1t was, but he saii som thing that he d1dn't really meen to say

on the public record, So the transcript which the State Ngpartment
at that time was putting out, later the same day, 1n mimengranhed
form, was altered, and the phrase was either expunged or changed to

et it back to the limits of what he intended $» say on the publie
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record. Well, at that point the transcript had a he ading on 1it,
under Department of State label, saying "Transcriot »f Remarks of
the Secretary of State at the Press Conference of such and such

a date." In fact this was not a transcript, and when I gnt back
to the office and compared my own notes with the transerint, I
discovered the discrepancy.

I called up Lincoln White, wh» was then the State DNepartment
press spokesmen, and said, "What are you doing? Vou can't Ao this,
You cen't put this out and say thisis a transcriot, and then
chenge it, doctor it."

I raised a little hell with him, and he tried #» apol-gize
for Dulles, and then he turnsd around and called Dulles an? saifd,
‘Roberts is raising hell about this, what are you going to o
about 1t?"

Dulles called me and said, "I unierstand vou've got some
problem. "

I said, "Well, Mr. Secretary, I don't think you can call

this a transcript of your press conference if in ract y-u change it,"

He said, "Well, I consider these things to be state
papers, and they bacome part of the offfcial doctrine of thse
United States government. I made a mis-cue and I'm not going to
allow that to go on the public record that way."

Beginning with the next press conference, the labsl was
changed to say: "This is the State Nepartment's transcriovt,"

or some phrase to show that they had a right to change it,
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Nlell, of course that didn's stop me or any’ne e6lse from

writing what he actually had said, but it shows you the degree

t> which he ¢onsiders?d the press confersnce an important

>peratisn., Now, his second lsvel »f operation was a private lovel,
which was sort of subdivided int» a graat many background lunches
and dinners, not drinking sessions but sessisns at which we haAd

a drink, bstween the Secretary and a number of corrssnondents who
were covering foreign affairs, besically almost always American., WHe
4id this sometimes with foreign corresvondents ton, but nHot,to

my recollectisn seldom were they mixed. These sessinns wers vary
productivs and very useful. In additi-n t» that, thers ware
individual meetings, talks with him. I remember being at his

house one time when he was unhappy~ about a piece T had written
during the Suez affairs, and he tried %5 sell me his position

and what he was doing,

Dulles, in these background sessions, where the rulss
wars that you couldnot quote him sr the State Department -- so called
rule of compulsory plagiarism, you could only say "The administra-
tion's view" or "The Secrstary is known to foel" or s-me device
like that. 1In all of these things, he always was trying tn out
over his point of view, which is a perfectly nroper functisn for a
Secra tary of State. 4nd it became some thing »f a game, for the
reportar t> be sure he wasn't just buying a pig in a poke and
becoming just a transmissisn belt for the administration, a problem

which is still unresslved ani probably never will be resnlveqd

because of the internal ceconflict that's bu’lt inbetween the prass
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and the government. Not just in foreign affairs.

But Dulles had one habit, as I loosk back on it, one
trick, you might even say, that was very important and very
interasting historically. Somehow or other, he had an intuitive
fgeling that you had to feed the lions, so he always had some
tidbits for us in the form of hard news. T[Thet is, he would drop
som® little item of some current interest that heknew we would
consider worth m inting, and that always orovided a news mz on
which to hang whatever his views were on the currsnt tooiec.

It was a sort »f device t- be surs that this got into the papsrs
and into the radis and TV, and got a good Aisplay, »ne way or
another. Yow conscious he was of this, T never was surs, but

it certainly was an effactive device, and one that his successors
have not besen as clever at as he was,

A goodmany of the journalists who covarsd Stats Nepartment,
foreign affairs, at that mriosd also knew him personally. Some
had known him longer than I had. Scotty (James) Reston, for
example. B ut ws all got to know him pe rsonally, an? ws 4id s=2e
him in Aiffering degrees individually or in small grouvs, or
talk to him on the telephons, and he was quits accessible in
this way. Of courso, it was in a sense an adversary procesding.

But basically, looking back on it, I think it was a
pretty good relationship. It kept us all on our toes, ani it

kept him on his toss.

Q: How often would youeo stimete that he held group background
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sessions for members »f the press that were covering the State

Department ?

Roberts: Well, I'd have to go back t» the files nsn that, John,
to know how many times. I savad all my notes from all those
background sessions that I attended, both here and sbroad, and
I'ye promised to give these eventually to the Dulles papsrs at
Princeton. It ran into considerable number, It tended to he
not too regular. It tended to be related to the news; if the re

was a crisis going on and he wanted his view out sut without
doing it so directly, why, we were more llkely to see him than
if thers was a dull mrisd. So I'3 havs tocheck the record nn

the number, but it was quitefrsquent.

%: lhese would be attended usually by how many corresponients?

Roberts: Oh, 20, I would supposse.

Q: At the sessions was he formal or relaxed?

Roberts: He was gquite relaxed, Thase sometimes-- most of then,

L guess, were held in hotels, rooms rented for the occasiosn, elther

a dinner »r sometimes not over a meal, depaending on the prass

of circumstance. Sometimes they were at individual houses. Mick

Harkness, I remsmber, had a number at his house in (feorgetown,

as it was physically convenlent. We usually startsd -- averybody
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ha? a drink, and he always stirred his bourbon with his big

finger, and he was quite relaxed, and convivial, but always totally

in control of what he was saying and Aoing.,

@: Do you consider that he made effective use of the prass Aduring

his term in office?

Roberts: Yes, I certainly Ao,

O

ihe& would be your appraisal of Mr. Dulles as a Secretary

of 8tate?

Roberts: Well, that's a very mixed bag, and I dAon't kmow just
how I'4 eome down in the end. I think the appraisal of any
public official has got t» bs bounded, somehow or other, first
by the times in which he's operating, an? secondly the circumstances,
A Cabinet member is the servant of the President, snd that
relationship determines to a great degree what hs can do.,

Dulles certainly had Eisenhwer's confidence, to» a very
extraordinarily high degree, Thers were sccasinns when
51 senhower overruled him, but Dullas was very carsful never to
try to get ahead of Ike or get nut in front of him. Ye krew
that Ike's political popularity and international standing were,
in effect, critical to anything that he, Dulles, wanted tn do,

and he traded on those strengths, as was quite normal. Rut he
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always was careful to telephone “isenhowar from wherever he wes,
before he 4i4 enything. “/1senhower I don't think ever read
anything in the papers that Dulles had sai d or done thet he
hedn't been fully informed in advance Dulles wasg goling to do,
‘here wes never any Ji1mmy Byrnes-Truman kind of problem betwseen
them. They didn't have a social poker playing relatisonship, but

they had a close mrsonal relationship,

Now, within that limit, I think Dulles was, for Elsenhower,

& good Secretary of Stats. In fact, £ he 414 in genaral what
Eisenhower wanted, their genaral lines, attitudes towar] foreign
affairs were similar, Dullss had an immense amrunt »f axpertise
built up over many years which T'm sure awed Fisenhower, s s it

414 so many other people, including 1lotg of newspape rmen. Perhaps
he took unfalr advantege of this with the President. T don't know.
'hat's a hard quastion to answer. But basically T think he wag

an effectiw Secretary for Fisenhower,

Now, the times in which he operated, perhaps e ven mors
important -- this was the perim of change. Remember that Stalin
died I think six weeks after Lisenhowsr was inaugurated, and
tas whole world bsgan to change. Looking back on it, it's a lot
clearer now than it was at the time that the so-called Communist
monolith was breaking up. Dulles has been castigated for nd4
seeing this sooner, and perhaps s-me of that criticism is Justifien,
He also had to live with the fact that the Pentason, under

Charlie Wilson, and the Treasury, under Greorge "umphre, and the
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Congress initially under Senator Taft wanted to cut back heavily
on Defense spending. This cut the military budget, after tte

end of the Korean War, and the military muscle, Dulles realizad,
was an instrument of foreign policy. So thers were certain
inhibitinns on him, and out of that kind of a situatisn he
developed things like the theory of massive retalization which
he: enunciated. He had this phraseology trick of Areaming up
phrases -- "agonizing reappraisal” is annther -- which oot a lot
of headlines, and usually got distorted bsyond what he

initially meant. Tven the brinkmanship thing,which was not his
ophrase--neverthelsss, it was his technique, and he never AenieAd
it. Fo used the term 'going to the brink" in that interview
with Jim Shepley of Life that caused so much flap,

I think in sum, Dulles was an e ffactive Secretary of State

for the President for whom he »peratsd, *hat he had a great Adsal of
understanding of the world, that he probably Aidn't+ anpreaciate
so’n enough the degree to which the Communist part »f the world
was changing, and his innate suspicion made it Aifficult for him
to accept many of these changes. nd of course, on top of this
he had this Presbyterian morality that offended so many veovle,
and I think in many cases did get into and color h's thinking--
as when he got into all that nonsense about "'the immorality

of neutrality" from which he finally had to b acktrack. In

sum, he was & strong Secretary ofStats, and thara'yg somathing to

be sald for just boing a strong Seoretary of Siate.
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Q: Is it your imprsassiosn that his Aoctrine »f massive
retaliation was developed more or less as a nacessity, bacause
of the desire in other parts of the administratisn t» cut

expenditures?

Roberts: Well, *the doctrine of course bagan =-=I think it had
1ts origins even before he came into office, but he lmew that he
was coming into office with an administratisn that was
detarmined to cut down government speniing, and that meant cut
financial militery spending. So there's = certain ratisnaliza-
tion involved there. This ‘s not neculiar t-the =i senhower

Administration, either. I think the answer is gensrally yes.

Q@: How would you deseribe his relations with the me jor countries
with which we weres 211164 at the time -- for example, the Britigh,

the French?

Hoberts: Well,his relations with the British were cnlored by the
terrible personal relatisnship with Eden, ending in the disaster
of Suez, in which I think that personal relatisnship played
a part. Ag you know, this went back to the Indnchina business,
bofore he was Secretary, and I think the British disliked him
for his morallzing, because they tend t» be morse pragmatic than
fmericans. This is an Anglo-American nroblem at any time,

but with Dulles 1t was somewhat more intense. T think his
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relationship there wes not goo9d. Things changsd so much for

the better when Macmillan cams in. His relations with the
"rench were never -- wsell, the French government in +he Fourth
Republic, thore were so many governments that he was constantly
struggling with one problem or another. His relations with
personalities I think varied, one to another. T think his
French relationship was a mixed bag. His Germen relati-nship
of course was a very close personal kslationship with Adenauer,
and ttet colored the Franch rdationshipn, because the Tranco-
German FAPPF rapprochement was only then beglnning., Te Ai4
see, he knew and he worked for that rapproshement, becsuse he
knew it was vital to any development in Westarn Turope. I
think there have been a 1lot »f unfair criticisms of Nulles
because of his pre-war relations with business en? legsal
relations with the Germans. I don't think any of thonse things--
of course, those things are in the subconscisus of anybody, but
I don't think they consciously affected what he was trying

bo do with the Germans. He knew first of all that you had %o
get the French and Germans %o stop fighting. He knew that

you had to get Western Furope back on its feet,which the
Marshall Plan had already begun, an? that a strong Termany was
important. T he arming of Germany had almady begun before "ulles
came in. The Adenauer relationship became his most imvortant

foreign relationship,

Qs “1d he seem to place great value on his personal ralations
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with leaders of nther countries? Did he feel that that was

an important aspect »f diplomacy?

Roberts: Well, I think he 4id where the relstionships wers good,
and he didn't where they weren't good. That's sort of human.

He Aid with Adensauer, and I think he 414 less so with others.

Q: I recall thaet Gisenhowsr in his memoirs says thet Bden,
before Eisenhowser bscame President, eXpresseﬂ the hove that he
would not make Dulles his Secrstary of Stats. According to

Hlsenhower, he said this to Zisenhowsr bsefore hs left --

Roberts: -- that'g only an indicatisn of how bad the relationship
was befors Dulles even became Secretary ofState, an? of course
this kind of thing was the foundation of a not giod relatlionship
that eontinusd as long as Eden was in offlice,sither as

foreign secretary or prime minister.

Q: Cgn you recell any specific instances in which @isenhwsr

overruled Dullss on questions of foreign oolicy?

Roberts: Well, I think thers were *wo baslc issues. One was
the intsesrvention in Indochina, and the other was the apprach
to the Russians that culminated in the Genseva Summit meeting in

1955. In the Indochina affair, the so calkd first Indochina war,
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which ended with the debacle at Dienbienphu anl ths CGenava
Conference which Aivided Vietnam, Dulles was determine’d %9 try to
hang onto that part of the world. He had a fixati»sn about any
more of the map of the world being colored Red, After all, the
fepublicans had gone through this whole period charging that
the Democrats had lost China, and they were not going to lose
anything thomselves if Dulles could help it. On the othar hani,
he knew that the French e¢nlonial situation in Indochina he? been
very bad, He pressed the French on that,but not sufficiently,
because of the problems in Europe. Indochina was an adjunct
of our relations with France in Eurove,

Well, Dulles, in his Adetermination not to let any more
territory go Communist, as he viewed it, cranked up whet amdrunterd
to an fintervention scheme, with the military, chiefly Admiral
Radford who was then chairman of the Joint Chiefs »f Staff,
and the thing, as isnow well known, got to the edge of interventinn,

General Ridgeway ani soms others fought it with the President,
and the thing finally collapsed, for a numbsr of resassons, but
basically bacause Tisenhower, having gotten out of a lan? war
in Asia in Korea, didn't want t-> get into another lani war in
Asia in Indochina, as we subssquently have done.

I think in that case, Dulles was prepared for some military
action, whereas Eisenhower was agalnst it. T he exact detaills
of some of that ars sti!l not on the public record, But I think that

was a case In which you could fairly say that Zisenhower
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overruled Dulles, He A4idn't want to go that far, He was willing
t> compromise it out, which eventually was done at the Censva
meeting.

Now the other case of the Summit Meeting in '55 was a
somewhat different proposition. Here I think it's necessary
to> remember, not the atmosphere #f 1967 but the atmohsphere »f
1955. At that time, we were att he end of about ten years of
very cold, cold war, which had included the Berlin blockadse,
the Korean War, and a great number of incidents between the
Ynited States and the Soviet Tnion, including shooting down of
vlanes--not yet the Hungarian revolt, but a 1ot of incidents and
atmosphere in which there was a very frozen relatisnship an?d a
very suspicious relationship. This country was worrisd sbout
Russians stealing nuclear secrets, worried about a nuclearPsarl
Harbor. We'd besen through the beginning, I guess by then most »f
the McCarﬂy perbod, Sn the atmosphere at that time wes not
conducive even to the 1dea of +the Prasident of the nited
States sitting down with the head of the Soviet Tnion. If vou
look back at what people said at that time, you'll find that
amply demonstrated on the record. It took all of Hisenhower's
very great personal prestige to agree to go to the Genova
Summit Meeting,

When you contrest that with what happened thisy year
betwean Kosygin 2nd Johnson at the Glassboro Summit, where there

would have besn a great outcry in this country and evarywhere if
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the two of them hadn't met, because we'd resched the point
whers the world was aware that heads of these twn nuclear super
powers have got to be in communication., It's just too dangersus
not to. But in '55, that had not been established, and Dulles's
attitude was that the Soviet Un’non was essentially a secon? rate
oower, the United Stetes should 4o nothing to give her the
Pecognition sn the world stage, it was an immoral nation, 1t was
an atheistic nation, they were a bunch of bastards. They didn't
live up to their obligati-ns, and all the rest of the ceriticism.

Gisenhowsr instinctively felt that somehow or other,
this nuclear weapon had change” the world, and that you just
¢o>uld not go on having this kind of frozen relatisnshin betwesn
the two supsr powers. I think this is an instincet thaet Presidents
com® to. DMaybe it's because of what they know about nuclear
weapons, and tha fact that they're the ones with the fingsr
that can be put on the button, and nobody else.

So there was a sort of an intsrnal struggle there, befors
that meeting, between Eisenhower and Pulles, about gning to
the meeting. It was capsuled in Herblock's famrus cartoon »f
Bisenhower in his sports clothes and Dullss in a big winter
overcoat with skiis, saying to Bulganin and Khrushchev, "Ves,
we're coming." That was the atmosohere in which the two of them
went.,

Now, looking back on that, I think this was in many ways

the me t significant thing that the Eisenhower Administation di4,



Roberts - 16

for which I give Eisenhower a great deal of credit, credit

which I don't think he's gensrally been given, which he
deserves, historically. He sort of pulled Dulles along dragging
and screamlng -- as Stevenson once said,"Kicking and screaming
into the 20th century."

To me, what Gisenhower 4i3d was tobreak the ¢o51d war
patina by agreeing t» go to this meeting, by talking to» these
people. It's m rfectly true that the so-calle 4 Sptrit of
*ensva evaporated, the specifics of the conference and the

subsequent foreign ministers' confersnce, which wes sunposed
to be about Germany, didn't resolvs any of those oroblems. In
fact, they got mors frozen. But I think it's fair t- say
historically that that meeting established tha tacit understanding
between the two sides that nuclear war was sut, that neither

o>f them could afford it. 2t that point, we had a great many more
nuclear weapons than the Russians 4id, but they had ennugh t hat
they coul? have killed a hell of a lot of Americans, if thore'd
been a nuaclear war, It was nok great s=tisfaction that we coulid
have wiped thsir country out maybe totslly. It had just become
too dengerous. Ike realized this, and he wanted t» An something
about it,instinctively, e2nd he agreed to talk t» these peonle

to sese what could be done. That was 2ne »of the rsasons he
proposed his so-called Open Skies plan at thet meeting, which
was the genesis of a great deal of the subsequent disarmement

discussion.
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5o I think that was the sacond case in which HFisenhower

overrode Dulles, and, I think, where Tisenhower was right anAd

Bulles was wrong.

Q: Did you have the impression that Secretary Dulles accented

the Open Skies idea rather reluctantly?

Roberts: well, Dulles wes always susoicious of disarmament. I
think you'll find in Andy Berdingzg's bosk of Dulles cuotati-ns
the quote where he said, "It's dangerous if Americans gat the
idea that disarmament is going to happen, bscause then evarybody
will want to cut down on our Defense buiget and our military
strength, and that will weaken our vosition." It was sort of a
vicious circle. Dulles had a high degree of skevticism about
disarmament, and of course it was a ® rsonality oroblem an? a
po>licy problem, because of Harold Stassen, whom Tisenhower had

made his disarmament man.

Q: What wsre the relati-ns between Nulles and Stessen?

Roberts: Well, not very good, becsuss they were both strong-
minded intelligent men. Stassen ha?l been set up in the White
House offlce, and it gave him a direct access to Tisenhowsr,
and Dulles, like most Secretaries of State, worked »on the orinciple

that nobody should come between the Secretary and the President.
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That's fundamentally a good rule. Stassen, foolishly, at »ne
of the London disarmament meetings, made a mis-cue by showing
a paper to the Russians before it had been cleared by all the
Allies, or telling them about it, and this created a big
uproar, and Dulles was able to use the fall-out from this as o
device to get Eisenhower to shift the whole operatinn into the
State Department, where he had betfer control of it. Then
Stassen got into the political mix too, and in the end he

disappeared and Dulles was top dog.

Q: Do you have any impression as to relations be tween Dulles

and Nelson Rockefells r?

Roberts: I don't think Dulles was very conscious of Nelson
Rockefeller, but I can't be %t99 sure about thet. T remember
Rockefeller when he was in the Whkte Tiouse. He was tarribly
frustbated. He was frustrated by Dulles., He Aidn't agree with
Dulles in a 1ot of ways. But he was, I think, a rslatively

minor pinprick to Dulles. It was partly out of that experience
that Rockefeller concluded, as he subseauently said, that electlve
office was where the power was, s» ha went back to New York and

ran for Governor.

Q: How would you describe the relstions between Secretary

Dulles and the capeer people in the State Dapartment?
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Roberts: Well, they got off on a very bad footing because »of the
McCarthy business, and in his initial address to the State
Department foreign service types, he called for -- I think the
phrase was '"positive loyalty," an? this caused a great flap
because it implied that a 1ot of veople were dislnyal, as
McCarthy was saying. And it is true that Dulles went to great
lengths to appease McCarthy, and this had a terrible influsnce
on the State Department. It lasted through his whole lifetime.
Secondly, Dulles essentially carried tha work of the Department
around in his hat, and a great many people felt that their views
never got a chance t»o be heard, or they never knew what Dullss
was doing except what they read in the papers and s> on. A lot
»f thsse things were exaggerated, and some of Dulles's collabor-
ators will deny even to this day thet that's true, but I think
it was essentially trus. And that added to, if not an
estrangement, am strained relati-nship between Dulles and many,

if not large numbers, of the professionals.

Q: You say that he went to great lengths to appeass McCarthy.

Roberts: Well, he Aid, because Eisenhowsr 4id. Fisenhower,
--you know, I think it was Shermen Adams who wrote that
i1 genhw er sald, "I won't get down in the gutter with that

fellow." It was Ike's sort of mrsonal reaction to MecCarthy,

whom he obvinusly detesed as an individual. And if the Prasident
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says, "We're not going to have that kini of fight with this

guy," then the whole Cabinet an? the government is bound by

this dictum, and Dulles was bound by it, and Dulles tried %o

play this game, as Fisenhower d4id, of appeasement. Of course,

it got worse, and ended up with the debacle of the Army and

all the well known stories. Dulles diAn't stand up for some of
the people in the State Nepartment who were under susnicion, as

I think he probably should have. He did fight through the (Charles)
Bohlen case, but he didn't have much appetite for tsking on

thet kind of a problem, bscause he felt this stuff got in his
way. What he wanted to do were things in foreign policy, =nid
this kind of domestic thing was a nuisance, so he was inclined %o
say, "OK, throw McCarthy a bone and see if we can keen him quiet

for a while." Of course, that technique seldom works.

R¢ How AL1d Scott McLeod figure in this?

Roberts: Well, McLeod was a spy for the McCarthyltes, in the
administration, and everybody knew it. So Dullss ftreaded

gingerly around him, ton., That was part of the whole nperation,

Q: Dga you hawve any impressions as to the views of Secretary
Dulles and President Eisenhower with regard to recognition of
Red China? Was Dulles more firmly against that than Eisenhowsr,

or what is your impression?
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Roberts: Well, you know, Dulles was originally for it, before

the Korsan War, as he wrote in his book. Then when he re-4id

the book after he became Secretery, brought out a new edition,

he explained in the Preface why he'd changed his mind. I think
HLisenhawer subscribed to the general principle that it's ridiculous
that 500 million people, whateverx the vopulatison then was,

should be isolated. But the Korean "War made this politicelly
impossible. I don't think thers was essentially much difference

between them onthsat issue.

Q: You mean they both regarded it as theoretically ® rhaps a gooAd

jdea, but --

Roberts: =-- practically impossible, and they both realize? that it
was tied up with the UN membership issue, ani that tha got them in
a lot of problems with Nationalist China., Dulles hald a good
relationship with Chiang Xai-shek, and comsidered that Tormosa

was important, and that various tests with the Chinese over the
off'shore islands were involved with this. And T think in
retrospect, Dulles looks vretty good on standing uo. In that

respect, the evidence is pretty well collected in Donal?d

Zagoria's book, about that incident, on the Sino-Soviet conflict.

Q: Do you have any impressions on the views of Dulles and
President Eisenhower with regard to defaense of the offshore islands,

Quemoy and Matsu priaarily?
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Robertss: Well, the islands themselves, both of them recognized
were insignificant pieces of real estate. You remember, we
did get Chiang off some islands called the Tachens, on the
ground that they were less defensible militerily, as T remember
it now. They were not interssted in defending these islands.
I'hey were interested in defending the principle that the
Chinese couldn't do anythine by aggressiosn, couldn't get a ything
by aggression. I think Zisenhower was frustrated, terribly
frustrated by Chiang's stubborn determination to hang on%o
qQuemdy and Matsu, and worried that he wanted to use them as a
soringboard for all his talk about going back to the mainland,
It took quite a while for the Eisenhower Administration t» get
around to really telling Chiang, "Look, this going back to the
mainland stuff is for the birds. Now, you gotta get it out of
your mind." They pussy-footed around this for a long, long time,
Finally, Dulles Aid tie Chieng up in a commitment over
the thing, and we kept them on short leash by not glving them
laniing craft, and holiing their gasoline supply for aireraft down
and things like that. But the realsstate wasn't anything, i*
was the potential of the thing, and of course the whole business
of the offshore islands exacerbated our relationship with our
allies, especially the British. I remember Hden once saying,
"Why couldn't we get 90 miles of blue weter between China and
Formosa? If you could get rid of these offshrre 1slands 1t

would make the thing much simpler."
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Well, Dulles's answer was that the Chinese have nsever
said they want the offshore islands, they've said they want
Formosa, which is a part of China in Peking's view. And that's
all over true, but as a practical fact, if wa'd been able to get
Chiang to give up all the offshore islands when he gnot out of
the Tachens, it would have made the 1ssus much easler, and it
would make it easier today if we had a clearer line, because
then Formosa would be in a much better oosition t» be a
separate entity, even though meither Chiang nor Mao accepts
it as =such.

T remember an Asian foreign minister--I think he was
either from Australia or New Zealand, in that perind -- telling
me thet he'A come in and tried to argue Dullas into getting
Chiang off the islands, so that you could get a united allised
posture behini Formosa for separate status, regardless o»f whether
either of the Chinese regimes would accept it, that y-u sort of
could enforece this onto China's view, on everybody, om the two
Chinas. Of course, a great many people belisve this 1is what the
United States should have done. I think Dulles was very slow
to proceed hoare, because he felt the slightest movement would
upset Chiang. He overrated Chiang, he overrated the Chinsa
Lobby. I think the China Lobby collapsed over these of fshore
tslend affalrs, because it became perfectly clear the United
States didn't want to get in a war. That is, the American veople

didn'; want to get in a war with Communist China over a counlse of
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islands. It was ridlculous. It waes not like the possibility of
zetting into a war over West Berlin, which had much more popular

support if it became necessary.

Q: How did Secretary Dulles view the importance of his extensive

travel to foreign countries?

Roberts: Well, he justified this on a number of grounis. One
7f the zrounis was that he got away from the televhone, anAd he
could think, and he wrote a lot of speeches flying aroun? in
airplanes. I don't know how much of that was really true or how
much was justification after the fact. It annoyed a 1lot of
ambassadors, and a lot of unfavorable things were written about
it. In fact, it ended up by Nean Rusk writing a plece in

Foreign Affairs x criticizingDulles for this, and saying that

Secretaries of State shouldn't do this. Of course, when Rusk

became Secretary of State, he racked up more mileage than Dulles did,

Q: To come for a moment to an overall anvralsal of the Tisenhowsr
Administration, what would be your estimste of its chief

accomplishments?

Roberts: well, I've alr=z2dy told you what I think, in a way, was
“isenhower's chief accomplishment--that he broks the crest »f

the cold war by agreeling to deal with the Russian leadership,
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which was then Bulganin and Khrushchev, and he Aiscoversd at that
meeting what was very important: that it was Khrushchev wh»
really was the Number 1 guy. That's where we found it out. T
think that was the important thing.

On other things, I think you can favult the Eisenhower
Administration in a 1ot of ways. Dulles got in a 1ot of silly
busim ss about neutralism, over India, but when you 190k back on
it historically, the Eisenh~war Administration continue?d the
Truman Administration's containment policy in Furone,which has
since been continued by the Kennedy and Johnson Administrations,
There's been variance of this, but fundementally, it's creatsd
a stable line between the Communist and the non-Cormmunist worlds
in Furope. 'he instability has been in the rest nf the world,
particularly In the ex-colionial world, The British wers always
very critical of Dulles, that he pushed tham t0o hard »n c¢onlonial-
ism and getting out of their colonial possessisns. Dulles oncse
*0ld me (I think it was during the Suez affair) that it would take
ten years to clean up all this ¢ol-onial problem, and that it
would create problems batwsen the United States and the T urovsan
countrises which then had colonies, for a long long time. Well,
actually it has taken really less time than he thought, although
so>me of thase problems still e xist, aftsr the period he was
talking about, ten years or so.

Part of that eolonial obproblem was reflscted in the

Indochina thing. I think that we made a mistake, if you try to
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look back at Vietnam and Indochina from today's perspective,
of the immense American involvement there. W made a mistake in
not looking at that problem in its own light. It was lookeAd
upon by Dullss too much as simply an adjunct to» American
policy in relation to France in Furops., Femember that Dulles was
then pressing for a Huropean army, in srder %o bring Germany into
the scheme of things. The Berlin Conference in 195L, which I
was at with Dulles, was supposed to dAlscuss Austria and Germany.
The one thing that it accomplished was to cell the Gensva
meating on Indochina, or actually on Indochina and Korea,
though nothing heppensd in Korea. Pidavult was then the French
Foreign Minister, and insisted that he couldn't d> anything on
%DC, the European Army, unless he c¢ould get a conference on
Indochina that wodd find some way out of the Indochina mess for
the French. Dulles didn't want this conference, but he agroed
to it in order to get Bldault's promise that thers wouldbe a
vote, end presumably a favorable vote, in the French Assembly,
on the Europsan army. So we backed into it. /B hacked into
the Indochina c¢onfersnce that way. We Aidn't -- we were so
dominated by our Zurspean relatinnships at that perind that
we had nnt really taken ennugh 1losk at the Aslan relstinnsh’ps,
in partlicular the Indochina one, on our swn. If we had, maybe
we 'd never have gotten into Indochina the way we A1A,

In the end, of course, the EDC was killed in ths Trench

Assembly when Mendes-France bscame PrimeMinister, and tharae's
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always been a lingering suspicion, although no proof, that
there was some kind of a deal botween the Russians and the
French that the French would kill EDC, which was then the

ma jor Soviet preoccupation in foreign affairs in relati»n +o
the West,” in e xchange for Russian pressure »n s Chi Minh o
agree to a settlement of the Indochina war, And it is true
that at (Geneva in 'Sh, both Molotov, who was then the Foreign
Minister {(of Russia) and Chou en Lai, the Chinese Foreign
Ministsr at that time, pressured the North Vietnamese intn
sighing an agreement to divide the country, when they thought
they hal won a battle at Dienbienphu which entitle? them to all
of the country. This was designed to keep us out, and ha?d this
suropean mix in it, and I think that was part of our problem. We
wers so preoccupied with Ruropse, Dullss was, because he
considered the Soviet Union the major threat, and the »noint of
the threat to5 be Western Zurope, that we got Aragged into

the Pacific thing in Southaast Asia without really realizing

what was happening.

Q: You speak of the containment of the Rusrians in Turops.
Do you belleve that Dulles had any real h-pe of rolling back

Communism in Yastern Zurope?

Roberts: Well,the rollback business was part Hf the p-slitical
polemics of the 1952 Presidential campaign. I #sn't thinkKhe really

did. I think Dullss had &n illusi»on that Communism was waak
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because it was based on, to him, false premises, including its
atheistic qualities, and he came from a church family, es you
know. The Sovist Union was weak. It was weaker than a lot of
people realized. Because of the secrecy they were able %o
impose, ani because of the psychonloglcal wsrfare they ussd, they
made themsolves look stronger then they were. I think that's
true, and Dulles realized this, but still he under-sestimated
their strength, and he under-estimated the ability of the
Communist regime to> enforce its will through the dictatorshlp
that runs the country.

Again according to Berding's quotes, he once tolA4
Gromyko that they were making all sorts of trouble for themselves
in the satellites in Zastern Hurope by their heavy-handed rulse.
Gromyko's answer was, "We don't need any advice from you, we can
take eare »f nur own problems." Well, Dulles turned out o be
more right than wrong, because both Poland and Hungary subsequently
exploded. But when the test came on rollback in Hungary, the
United Statzs was not prepared to do anything. And Dulles, agaln
quoted in Berding, said, "If we had intervened in Hungary, the
only way to save Hunzary would have been through nuclear war,
and thet would hawve destroyed Hungary."

In nother words, when i+ came tn the nut-cutting, he reallzed
this was a Russian sphare of influence, and that the Russlans
were not going to give it up under any circumstances, and he

assumed --who knows? rightly or wrongly, but he assumed that the
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Russians would go t» nuclsar war over it if necessary. Now,
whether they would have or not, no man knows, at least no man
here. So when it came to nut-cutting, the libsratisn turned

sut to bs nothing but words,

@: Was there any strong sentimsnt in the administration for

interventisn in Hungary?

Roberts: No., I d-on't think thers was. You must remember that
Hungary came ab the same time as Suez. This was the tragedy of
Hungary, and Dulles resalized it, and often complained about it,.
If you hadn't had Suez at the same time, T Aon't suppose Hungary
essentially would have turnsd out 41fferently, but ths pressures
an the Russians ani the propagands defeat »f the Russians which
they suffered from Hungary, which was Immense, psrhaps would heve
besn even greater, if thera'd been a concentration of opinion
and attention on Hungary st that time. But the world was divided
because of Suez, and you had an internal Western conflict batween
the United Sta‘es on the one hand, and the French and British
and Israelis »n Suez. Then you had the United States an? the
Soviet Union working together over Susz, whereas they were o5n
opposite sides over Hungary. No, I don't think there was ever

any serious thought or intention of golng into Hungary.

@: T~ what extent was Dulles intent on checking the Britlsh,
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French end Israelis in the Suez crisis? Do you think he wes *he

prime mover in shaping Americen policy in that case?

Roberts: Well, I think he and Hisenhower both agreed on this.
Soma of the books that have been written about Suez subsequently
make this point. This book called Suez by Hugh Thomas that's just
been published in ®nzland says that (from the British ¥iew
essentially) that ©den made the mistake of thinking he e¢ould
separate Bisenhowsr from Bulles, and I think that's correct.

Lhere was no Aifference of »sninion betwesn them. They bnth took
what t> them was a moral view that this was a wrong thing for

the British and the French to Ao, it was an immoral act, it was

a re-imposition of c¢olonialism, to them, end this went agalmt
their moralistic grain, and I don't think there was any difference
between the President and the Secretary on that. They were both
determined to stop it. I think Dullss was a somewhat more

cynical fellow than Eisenhowser. I think he would have been hapvy,
without saying this out loud, if somehow or othsr this had
rosulted in throwing Nasser out, at the time. We would have

1liked to have had his cake and eaten 1t to»n, 8o to speak. PRub

his fundamentel objection here was that this was a re-impositinn
»f eolonialism, and it just couldn't possibly work in the world

gs it then existed.

Q: To what extent wers ths views of Mr, Dulles and President

Eisenhower influenced by their outrage at having been deceiveAd



Roberts - 3@
by the British and the French?

Roberts: Well, partially. Partially. That was a tangential

things It was not the main point, however.

Q: Do you believe that both Secretary Dulles and Prssident
Eisenhower were intent on a pnlicy of ending Furnpnean

cnlonialism?

Roberts: They both shared the basic and simolistic American visw
that colonialism is bad per se. Roosevelt had nressured Churchill
to get out of India, Americans have the general view that
colonialism is bad, and that we'vVe always been against 1%, as a
country -- except that we got int» a little »f it ourselves,

which we've always had a certaln gullty conscience about. And
that's what makes a iot of peovle unhavpy today when we're charged
with being a colonial powsr in Vietnam. I think thak's vart »f
our present internal problem, is this feeling that somehow or

sther we're doing what we've condemned others for 4-ing.

Q: To what extent Adid Secretary Dullas take an interest in
reletions with Latin America? Was that a movince that was laft

largely to Milton TFisenhower?

Roberts: I think Dulles, like most Americans, considered

Latin America a nulsance. T mean, intellectually he knew it was
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there, that it had a certain importance, and he coulAd say all
the right things sbout it in public. He want to a number of
conferences there, but it was strictly a back burner ope ration,
and Milton Xisenhower, being the President's brother, gave it

a spoecialc cast, but Milton himself has testified how frustrated
he was trying to get much dons. Nonetheless Milton was the one

yho sort of was the precursnr of the Alliance for Progress.,

Q: Mr. Roberts, what would be your estimate of President

51 senhower's grasp of foreign affairs?

Roberts: I think it was very spotty,and I think -- % isenhnwer,
you go back and read his books, and you see that he was raised
in that period at West Point when military men really 414 not
think much ato ut the relationship of military power and foreign
policy. The whole debacle »f how Berlin got left out in the
middle of the “ast German Communist sea =-- Eisenhower's part in
thet -- he was not alone in this, the whole Roosevsl t-Churchi'l
correspondence is full of evidence that Rnosevelt was pre tty
naive about a lot of this too, and Churchill spent a great Asal
of hls time trying to make the Americans understend that what
we did in war was going to have something to Ao with postwar
relationships., That's why he wanted to land in the Balkans

an? 8o on. Roosevselt didn't understand this adequately, an?

“isenhower didn't either. They were s» eoncentrating on, you knnw,
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how c¢ould you win a war in a military sense with the lesast

loss of life, that they forgnt that wars never end in the

finlte sense. There's always the postwar problems which the

war creates, and we've still got the nostwar problems in Turnpe
in Germany.

I think Elsenhower never had sufficient graso of this,
which was a common fault of many peoole, and still is, in some
cases. I think people now going through the service schnols
get smuch better grasvo of this interrelatinsnship. Some of this
carried over into his Presidency.

On the othar hand, he had, as he showed when he was
Supreme Comnander during the war, a certain political anAd
versonal skill with people. It's a curious thing thers about
hlis linguistics. A great deal of fun was made about EZissnhower
and his press conferences, whers he had this fantastic syntax.

I remember going t» Hisenhower vress confersncss on many
occasions when I would sit thers and listen t~» him say s-mething,
volunteer something or give an answer to a quastion, T+ scemed
to ba perfectly clear what he was saying, but unless it had bseen
a prepared statement, if it were a? 1lib, when you came out and
read the transcript, he never really had quite said what you'js
thought he sal?d, But he had an ability to get over to you what
was in his mind, even though he was fighting to 4o it over the
words, He was so bad at expressing himself. I think this wsas

true not only with reporters but with people he dealt with, with
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foreign statesmen. He had an intensity that made it possible
for people to understand him despite his frequent insbility %o
express himself clearly. That's a facet »f this.

He had a simplistic view, as Dulles Ai4, of the Communist
world, As I sald, Stalin Ated six weeks after he came to offics.
There wss not s early enough realization nf what this meant.

Ne AiAn't know enough about what was going on in the Soviet

Union in those early years. We suffered from the China
experience. We Aidn't try to understand China sufficiently well.
We understood something about the changing colonial world, but

we didn't understand enough about the problems »f the Third
World, as we now call it, Eisenhowsr had a pretty limlted
grasp of a lot of these things, and Dulles had a lot of expertisse,
but 1t was essentially Furope-based, although he'd been

involved in the Japmese peace treaty Auring the Truman Adminis-
tration. It took the United States quite a while +to see that

the world after World War IT was not the 912 world of Turnpem

and Americe. The Mlsenhower Administration was in nffice Juring
a parind of great change, and I don't think Fisenhower understnndg
ell these things,

0,, the other nand, you look back to the Truman years,
where the immediate postwar changes bagan, and you can fanlt
Truman and his Secretaries of State squally well., We're tno
close to the Kennedy and Johnson years yet probably to have

much ps rspective thers, but there's plenty of criticism along
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the same lines. I think the main thing about Eisenhower --
he was elescted President at a time when neople were tired Af the
¢n1ld war, tired of the whole wartime complex, in the early
postwar perind, They wanted some relisf, an? hers was %this
gzallant figure, great hero, and everybody wanted to lsave it to
Ike. That's exactly what the public mood wes, and that's exectly
what happened, They left it to Ike, and Dulles was bhis right
hand man. And a lot of things were done that maybex shouldn't
have been done, a lot of things weren't Aone that should havse
been done -- as is true probably in any administration.

On balance, probably I think the administration historically
ls probably going to come off better than some of the early
Judgments have given it credit. B ut again, we don't know everything
from theCommunist side of that perind yet, and we don't know
evarything fmm even Dulles's sidse.

One of the great troubles of theDulles perind is the
telephone. 1In the »ld days, everything was written d-wn. There
was lots of correspondence. The telephone becomes such an
Instrument of doing business. There are not tremscrivts kept of
many ~f thase things. Hisenhower said once, at the end »~f his term,
the t Dullas had kept a record of all of tha'r telenhone con=-
versations, I think these records a® now in the “isenhower
library, but to my knowledge they',e naver been opened. And
what kind of records Dulles kept of thnse would be rather

interasting to see, But thera's just s» many missing oisces that
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total judgment, I think, is very hard to make.

®: You regard the meeting at Geneva as a landmark, in foreign oolicy?

Roberts: I do, and T get more and more convinced »f this every
day, by subsequent events, and I think it probably was the lanA-

mark of the Hisenhower Administretion in foreign policy.

Q: Thank you, Mr. Roberts. This concludes the Interview with
Mr. Chalmers Roberts on August 29, 1967. The interview
was conducted in Mr. Roberts' office at the Washington Post

in Washington, D.C, The interviewer was J-hn Lyter,
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